

United States of America Congressional Record

proceedings and debates of the 115^{tb} congress, second session

Vol. 164

House of Representatives

The House met at 9 a.m. and was called to order by the Speaker.

MOMENT OF SILENCE IN REMEM-BRANCE OF MEMBERS OF ARMED FORCES AND THEIR FAMILIES

The SPEAKER. The Chair asks that the House now observe a moment of silence in honor of those who have been killed or wounded in service to our country and all those who serve and their families.

MORNING-HOUR DEBATE

The SPEAKER. Pursuant to the order of the House of January 8, 2018, the Chair will now recognize Members from lists submitted by the majority and minority leaders for morning-hour debate.

The Chair will alternate recognition between the parties. All time shall be equally allocated between the parties, and in no event shall debate continue beyond 9:50 a.m. Each Member, other than the majority and minority leaders and the minority whip, shall be limited to 5 minutes.

RECOGNIZING DR. JOSEPH UNDER-WOOD AS A FINALIST FOR THE VARKEY FOUNDATION'S 2018 GLOBAL TEACHER PRIZE

The SPEAKER. The Chair recognizes the gentlewoman from Florida (Ms. ROS-LEHTINEN) for 5 minutes.

Ms. ROS-LEHTINEN. Mr. Speaker, I would like to recognize and congratulate Dr. Joseph Underwood, the head of the television production program at Miami Senior High School, located in my congressional district, on being named a finalist for the Varkey Foundation 2018 Global Teacher Prize. Joe is one of 50 finalists chosen from throughout the world. This prestigious award recognizes the fundamental role that teachers play in shaping their students' lives.

Over the course of his 33-year teaching career, Joe has distinguished himself as an exemplary educator and has implemented a number of innovative tools and creative teaching techniques in his classroom. Joe has received numerous awards in his lifetime and was inducted into the National Teachers Hall of Fame in 2007.

As a former Florida certified teacher, it has been a privilege to see so many of my constituents educated under Joe's tutelage.

Once again, congratulations to Dr. Underwood for representing Miami-Dade County Public Schools on the world's stage. You deserve this award, Joe.

THANKS TO DRAKE FOR INSPIRING STUDENTS OF MIAMI SENIOR HIGH SCHOOL AND THE UNIVER-SITY OF MIAMI

Ms. ROS-LEHTINEN. Mr. Speaker, speaking of Miami Senior High, students were extremely excited to receive a surprise visit yesterday from hip-hop star Drake.

He was recording his latest music video at the historic school in Little Havana and, afterward, made an unexpected \$25,000 donation to Miami High. Drake also promised that every student would receive new uniforms that he designed himself.

Our wonderful superintendent of Miami-Dade Public Schools, Alberto Carvalho, thanked Drake for all that he had done to support public education and for bringing his words of encouragement to south Florida students.

But Drake did not stop there. He made another surprise visit to my alma mater, the University of Miami, where he awarded a \$50,000 scholarship to Destiny James, a biology student.

Drake finished the day off by giving an impromptu performance on UM's campus. What a treat for the students. I would like to thank Drake for his

students throughout my congressional district. I can safely say that they will not forget yesterday any time soon.

CORRECTION

So go Stingarees of Miami High, and go the students of University of Miami. Go Canes.

Thank you, Drake.

BATTLE FOR SERVICE MEMBERS

The SPEAKER pro tempore (Mr. SIMPSON). The Chair recognizes the gentlewoman from Florida (Mrs. MUR-PHY) for 5 minutes.

Mrs. MURPHY of Florida. Mr. Speaker, today I am introducing a bipartisan bill that seeks to ensure that servicemembers who are leaving the military receive the specific training they need to make a successful transition to civilian life. The BATTLE for Servicemembers Act will better prepare servicemembers to attend college, to learn a technical trade, or to start a small business.

The men and women in our all-voluntary military serve and sacrifice for this Nation. When they decide to leave the Armed Forces, it is our Nation's moral obligation to take all of the steps necessary to help them thrive in the next stage of their lives.

Mr. Speaker, I want to thank the three original cosponsors of this legislation. The first is Congressman JACK BERGMAN, a retired three-star Marine Corps general who recently visited in my central Florida district as part of a program organized by the Bipartisan Policy Center. Congressman BERGMAN joined me on a visit to the local VA hospital and to a meeting of my veterans advisory board.

The other original cosponsors are Congressman CARLOS CURBELO and Congresswoman KYRSTEN SINEMA, who

 \Box This symbol represents the time of day during the House proceedings, e.g., \Box 1407 is 2:07 p.m. Matter set in this typeface indicates words inserted or appended, rather than spoken, by a Member of the House on the floor.

generosity and for inspiring so many



H787

are the co-chairs of the Congressional Future Caucus. I am proud to serve as a vice chair of this caucus which promotes policies to empower younger generations, including our young men and women in the military.

I also want to thank the outside organizations that have endorsed this bill. Namely, the Veterans of Foreign Wars, the Iraq and Afghanistan Veterans of America, the Student Veterans of America, and the Millennial Action Project.

Let me briefly outline what the bill would do. Over 200,000 servicemembers are honorably discharged from the military each year. Many of them are under age 25, do not have a bachelor's degree, and leave the military without having secured a civilian job. Under current law, the Department of Defense is required to ensure that eligible departing servicemembers participate in the Transition Assistance Program, or TAP.

The content of TAP has evolved over the years and continues to be the subject of vigorous debate in Congress and within DOD. As presently designed, TAP's mandatory core curriculum consists of a 3-day employment workshop, 6 hours of briefing on veterans benefits, and 8 to 10 hours of briefings on topics such as translating military skills to civilian jobs and managing personal finances.

Beyond this mandatory core curriculum, eligible servicemembers are also given the option to participate in a more specialized 2-day workshop in one of the following areas: higher education, technical and skills training, or entrepreneurship.

In my view, the core curriculum is necessary, but not sufficient to enable most departing servicemembers to successfully transition to the civilian world. I believe departing servicemembers should supplement the core curriculum with at least one of these 2day workshops so they can receive training tailored to their specific personal and professional goals, whether that involves going to school, learning a trade, or starting a business. The problem is that these 2-day workshops, precisely because they are optional, are rarely utilized.

According to a report recently released by the Government Accountability Office, fewer than 15 percent of eligible Active-Duty servicemembers participated in one of the 2-day workshops in fiscal year 2016, including only 4 percent of eligible marines.

Requiring transitioning servicemembers to opt into a 2-day workshop sends a signal to servicemembers and their commanders that the workshops are unnecessary, thereby discouraging participation. Therefore, my bill will require DOD to ensure that all eligible servicemembers participate in the core curriculum and one of the 2-day workshops. As with the core curriculum, participation in a 2-day workshop could be waived for certain departing servicemembers, including service-

members with specialized skills who are needed to support an imminent deployment.

In addition, the bill would allow servicemembers who do not wish to participate to opt out of the training. However, the ultimate goal is to ensure that more departing servicemembers receive this targeted training and to boost the current 15 percent participation rate.

There is far more that we can do as a country to make certain that our warriors are well equipped, both practically and emotionally, to deal with the challenges of civilian life. I believe passage of this legislation would be a step in the right direction.

Mr. Speaker, I respectfully ask my colleagues on both sides of the aisle to support this bill.

DOMESTIC TERRORISM PREVENTION

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentleman from Illinois (Mr. SCHNEIDER) for 5 minutes.

Mr. SCHNEIDER. Mr. Speaker, I rise today to urge my colleagues to join me in the urgent effort to address the dramatically rising threat of domestic terrorism.

From a church in Charleston where worshippers were engaged in Bible study on a Wednesday night to a peaceful counterdemonstration in Charlottesville, our national consciousness has been seared by the violence of white supremacist and other extremist domestic terrorist groups. In fact, a recent FBI-Department of Homeland Security joint intelligence bulletin found white supremacist organizations were responsible for 49 homicides and 29 attacks from 2000 to 2016, more than any other domestic extremist movement.

In response to this threat, today I am introducing the Domestic Terrorism Prevention Act, which makes smart changes to ensure our Federal agencies are effectively coordinating on monitoring these terrorist organizations and better able to prevent acts of violence. This is companion legislation to the bill introduced by Senator DURBIN in the Senate.

I thank him for his leadership, as well as my colleagues in the House, Ranking Member BENNIE THOMPSON, Representatives ROBIN KELLY, LOU CORREA, and VICENTE GONZALEZ, for joining me in this effort. Working together, we can crack down on these domestic terrorist organizations and ultimately save lives.

RECOGNIZING FEBRUARY AS CTE MONTH

The SPEAKER pro tempore. The Chair recognizes the gentleman from Pennsylvania (Mr. THOMPSON) for 5 minutes.

Mr. THOMPSON of Pennsylvania. Mr. Speaker, February is Career and Technical Education Month. As cochair of the Career and Technical Edu-

cation Caucus and a senior member of the Committee on the Education and the Workforce, I have long been aware of the importance of career and technical education programs that provide learners of all ages career-ready skills.

From agriculture to the arts, from marketing to manufacturing, CTE programs work to develop America's most valuable resources: its people. Together, with Representative JIM LAN-GEVIN, my CTE Caucus co-chair, we will introduce a resolution officially designating February as CTE Month.

Mr. Speaker, I encourage all of my colleagues to sign on as cosponsors because CTE truly benefits all Americans.

CTE is taught in a range of settings, from high schools and area technical centers to technical and 2-year community colleges. In total, 12.5 million high school and college students are enrolled in CTE programs across the Nation.

Just last week, President Trump expressed his commitment to CTE during his first State of the Union Address. President Trump said: "Let us invest in workforce development and job training. Let us open great vocational schools so our future workers can learn a craft and realize their full potential."

Fortunately, the House unanimously passed the Strengthening Career and Technical Education for the 21st Century Act last June. I authored this bill with Representative RAJA KRISHNAMOORTHI. It aims to close the skills gap by modernizing Federal investment in CTE programs and connecting educators with industry stakeholders.

This is the first major overhaul to the Carl D. Perkins Career and Technical Education Improvement Act since 2006. We are currently working with our colleagues in the Senate to bring up this bipartisan bill for consideration so we can get this important reauthorize signed into law.

The Perkins Act is important for educational institutions as well as businesses. Small-business owners rely upon Perkins programs to increase the number of skilled candidates in emerging sectors. Future workers in fields such as manufacturing, information technology, healthcare, and agriculture also rely on career and technical education to obtain the skills necessary for high-skill, high-wage, family-sustaining careers. Essentially, Mr. Speaker, we are providing the education tools to equip a 21st century workforce.

CTE has established itself as a path that many high-achieving students choose in pursuit of industry certifications and hands-on skills that they can use right out of high school in skills-based education programs or in college. By modernizing the Federal investment in CTE programs, we will be able to connect more educators with industry stakeholders and close the skills gap that exists in this country. There are good jobs out there, but people need to be qualified to get them.